69601-7

No. 69601-7-I

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

v.

MATTHEW HAMPTON,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After filing an amended information, the State proceeded against Matthew Hampton at trial on one count of second degree rape. Because the evidence only supported a conviction of second degree rape or acquittal, the trial court erred in granting the State's motion for an additional jury instruction on third degree rape. The jury found Mr. Hampton not guilty of second degree rape and guilty of third degree rape. The court's error therefore requires reversal of the conviction and remand for dismissal. In the alternative, Mr. Hampton's conviction should be reversed and remanded for a new trial because the court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Hampton's motion for a continuance so that Mr. Hampton could be represented by counsel of his choice.

Finally, two of the community custody conditions imposed by the court should be stricken, as conditions 5 and 8 are not crime-related and condition 8 is impermissibly vague and subject to arbitrary enforcement.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by granting the State's request to instruct the jury on third degree rape.

2. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Hampton's request for a continuance so that he could be represented by counsel of his choice.

3. Two of the conditions of community custody imposed by the trial court were not authorized by statute and violated Mr. Hampton's Fourteenth Amendment rights.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A court may not give a third degree rape instruction when the jury would have to disbelieve both the defendant's testimony and the alleged victim's testimony in order to convict the defendant of rape in the third degree. Here, the evidence supported only a conviction on second degree rape or acquittal, but the jury found Mr. Hampton guilty of third degree rape. Is Mr. Hampton entitled to a reversal of his conviction with instructions to dismiss?

2. The Sixth Amendment guarantees the accused the right to counsel, and a defendant who does not require court-appointed counsel is entitled to choose who will represent him. Mr. Hampton was dissatisfied with his court-appointed attorney and retained counsel shortly before trial. He requested a continuance so that his private counsel could adequately prepare for trial. The case had been

continued once upon agreement of the parties, the case was not lengthy, and neither the State nor the court identified any specific scheduling issues. The trial court incorrectly balanced the timing of Mr. Hampton's request with his right to adequate defense rather than his right to choice of retained counsel. Was Mr. Hampton's constitutional right to retain new counsel of his own choice violated when the court denied his motion to continue using the incorrect legal standard?

3. Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), the trial court may impose prohibitions on an offender as discretionary conditions of community custody only if the prohibitions are crime-related. In the absence of evidence of the crime-related nature of these conditions, the court prohibited Mr. Hampton from possessing or consuming controlled substances and required him to participate in counseling programs as directed by the community corrections officer. Are these conditions insufficiently crime-related and, as to the second condition, written in such overbroad and ambiguous language as to deny Mr. Hampton his right to fair notice of required conduct and subject him to unduly arbitrary enforcement?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Matthew Hampton became acquainted with the alleged victim, A.B., after she briefly dated his son, Chance.<sup>1</sup> 9/6/12 RP 44-45. The night of the alleged incident, A.B. was at the Hamptons' home spending time with Chance, her sister, and another friend. 9/6/12 RP 48. The four of them played pool in the Hamptons' garage. <u>Id</u>. Although A.B. was underage, she drank three or four beers that evening, and later had some wine. 9/6/12 RP 55-56. After drinking the wine, A.B. felt sick and vomited in the bathroom. 9/6/12 RP 56, 58.

While A.B. was in the bathroom, Chance drove A.B.'s sister and the friend home. 9/6/12 RP 60. A.B. chose to stay because she felt that she was "too sick to get up." 9/6/12 RP 61. After A.B. vomited, she sat on the couch in the living room and talked with Mr. Hampton. 9/6/12 RP 106. Chance returned to the house and began playing pool with Mr. Hampton. 9/6/12 RP 63. While they played, A.B. fell asleep in a "love seat chair" in the garage. 9/6/12 RP 64.

At some point, Chance's mother stopped by the garage and asked Chance if he was working in the morning, which he did not know. 9/6/12 RP 160. Chance had difficulty remembering to write

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For purposes of clarity, Mr. Hampton's son Chance is referred to by his first name. No disrespect is intended.

down his schedule, and frequently snuck into his place of employment (a 24-hour QFC supermarket) to double check when he was scheduled to work. 9/6/12 RP 160. Because Chance often started work at seven o'clock in the morning, and it was already five or six o'clock in the morning, Mr. Hampton urged Chance to check the schedule after they finished their game of pool. 9/6/12 RP 161.

Chance was unable to wake A.B. before he left for QFC. 9/6/12 RP 163. A.B. testified that while Chance was gone, she woke up in the garage in the pitch black with Mr. Hampton over her. 9/6/12 RP 66. As she was waking up, she realized that Mr. Hampton had one finger inside of her vagina. 9/6/12 RP 67. She testified that she initially felt a jerking sensation as Mr. Hampton pulled her pants down, and then immediately felt his fingers inside her body. 9/6/12 RP 68. Because she was just waking up, she did not have a conscious thought until she heard Mr. Hampton's voice, which was after he inserted his fingers into her body. 9/6/12 RP 66, 70. She described being in shock, and being able to say "no" and "stop" only after penetration. 9/6/12 RP 70.

Mr. Hampton testified that this never happened. 9/7/12 RP 220. He testified that he remained in the garage shooting pool while Chance left to check his schedule. 9/7/12 RP 218. After Chance left, A.B.

woke up and moved toward Mr. Hampton. <u>Id</u>. She touched his left hip and started moving her hand inward. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Hampton stopped her by grabbing her arm and sitting her back down in the chair. <u>Id</u>. He scolded her, asking her what Chance would think of her actions, and she began to cry. <u>Id</u>.

Shortly after, A.B. called Chance, who arrived home and picked up A.B. 9/6/12 RP 74, 78. A.B. did not report the alleged incident to the police until one month later. 9/6/12 RP 89. The State originally charged Mr. Hampton with one count of indecent liberties, but on the day of trial the State amended the charge to rape in the second degree. CP 83, 98; 9/5/12 RP 35. The State proceeded against Mr. Hampton solely on a charge of second degree rape, alleging that sexual intercourse occurred when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. CP 70, 83.

Prior to trial, Mr. Hampton moved to substitute his appointed counsel with private counsel and requested a continuance to allow retained counsel time to prepare. 8/31/12 RP 2. The motion to substitute was conditioned upon the court's allowance of the motion to continue, as retained counsel could not effectively represent Mr. Hampton without additional time to prepare for trial. <u>Id</u>. Although the

case was less than four months old, and no specific scheduling issues were raised, the trial court denied Mr. Hampton's motion based on a finding that Mr. Hampton's appointed counsel was capable of zealously representing Mr. Hampton's interests. 8/31/12 RP 7-8.

At the close of evidence, the State moved for a jury instruction on rape in the third degree. 9/7/12 RP 240. Mr. Hampton objected, but the court ruled in the State's favor and instructed the jury on both rape in the second degree and rape in the third degree. 9/7/12 RP 252. The jury found Mr. Hampton not guilty of second degree rape, and guilty of third degree rape. CP 60, 61.

At sentencing, the trial court imposed a number of community custody conditions. CP 42. Mr. Hampton objected to two of these conditions. One prohibited the possession or consumption of controlled substances and the second required participation in counseling programs as determined by the community corrections officer. CP 42 (conditions 5 and 8). Mr. Hampton argued these conditions were not crime-related and the counseling requirement was subject to arbitrary enforcement by the community corrections officer. 11/6/12 RP 330, 331. The trial court rejected these arguments.

Mr. Hampton appeals.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred in instructing the jury on the offense of rape in the third degree.
  - a. <u>In order to instruct the jury on the offense of third degree</u> rape, the State was required to show that the evidence supports an inference that Mr. Hampton committed third degree rape *instead* of second degree rape.

After filing an amended information at the start of trial, the State proceeded against Mr. Hampton solely on the charge of rape in the second degree, alleging that sexual intercourse occurred when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. 9/5/12 RP 35; CP 70, 83. After the close of evidence, the State moved for an additional jury instruction on rape in the third degree. 9/7/12 RP 240.

Rape in the third degree is not a lesser included offense of rape in the second degree because each element of third degree rape is not necessarily an element of second degree rape. <u>State v. Ieremia</u>, 78 Wn. App. 746, 752, 899 P.2d 16 (1995). Third degree rape requires that the alleged victim not be married to the perpetrator and that the alleged victim clearly express a lack of consent by words or conduct. <u>Id</u>. These elements are not required in order to prove a charge of second degree rape. In this case, to succeed on a charge of second degree rape,

the State was required to prove that the sexual intercourse occurred when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. CP 70, 83.

In order to instruct on an inferior degree offense, the evidence must support an inference that only the inferior degree crime was committed. State v. Wright, 152 Wn. App. 64, 71, 214 P.3d 968 (2009). Interpreted too literally, this test would be redundant and unnecessary, as all jury instructions must be supported by sufficient evidence. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). This test therefore requires a factual showing more particularized than that required for other jury instructions. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455. It is not enough that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence supporting the charged crime. Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. at 755; Fernandez-Medina, at 141 Wn.2d at 456. "The evidence must support an inference that the defendant committed the lesser offense instead of the greater one." Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. at 755 (emphasis original) (citing State v. Bergeson, 64 Wn. App. 366, 369, 824 P.2d 515 (1992)). As discussed below, the evidence in this case

did not support a theory that Mr. Hampton committed third degree rape, but did not commit second degree rape.

On appeal, a trial court's decision to issue a jury instruction based on a ruling of law is reviewed de novo. <u>Wright</u>, 152 Wn. App. at 70.

### b. <u>The alleged victim consistently testified that she was</u> <u>incapable of expressing her unwillingness to engage in</u> <u>sexual intercourse at the time of penetration.</u>

At trial, the State alleged Mr. Hampton was guilty of second degree rape because he engaged in sexual intercourse with A.B. when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. CP 70, 83. The state of sleep is universally understood as unconsciousness or a physical inability to communicate unwillingness to engage in an act. <u>State v. Puapuaga</u>, 54 Wn. App. 857, 861, 776 P.2d 170 (1989).

A.B. testified that she was drinking the night of the alleged incident, and eventually went into the bathroom to vomit. 9/6/12 RP 58. At some point after returning from the bathroom, she testified that she laid down on a chair in the garage and "fell asleep right away." 9/6/12 RP 65. She stated that she started to wake up when Mr. Hampton "jerked" her pants off, but that after removing one pant leg, Mr. Hampton immediately put his fingers inside of her body. 9/6/12 RP 67-68. She testified that "[h]e had one finger inside of me... I was just waking up." 9/6/12 RP 67.

When the State asked additional clarifying questions, A.B. said that Mr. Hampton's fingers were already inside of her by the time she said "no" or "stop" because she was just waking up. 9/6/12 RP 70. It was only after his fingers were inside her body, and she heard Mr. Hampton's voice, that she became fully awake. 9/6/12 RP 66, 69-70. Prior to that she did not have any conscious thoughts because she was "just waking up." 9/6/12 RP 70.

A.B.'s testimony remained consistent under cross-examination. She testified that she was aware that Mr. Hampton inserted his fingers into her body but that she was just waking up. 9/6/12 RP 118. When questioned about the specific sequence of events, she testified that she was unsure because she was "waking up and [she] was shocked, confused." 9/6/12 RP 123-24.

# c. <u>The trial court erred in instructing the jury on third degree</u> rape and the conviction must be reversed.

A trial court is not permitted to instruct on an inferior degree offense unless the evidence supports "an inference that *only* the lesser crime was committed." <u>Wright</u>, 152 Wn. App. at 71 (emphasis original). In <u>Wright</u>, this Court found the trial court erred in giving the third degree rape instruction where the defendant contended the intercourse was consensual and the alleged victim testified it was forced. <u>Id</u>. at 71-72. While the Court acknowledged there was some testimony suggesting the defendant did not use force, it determined that overall her testimony consistently reflected rape by forcible compulsion. <u>Id</u>. at 73-74; <u>see also State v. Charles</u>, 126 Wn.2d 353, 355-56, 894 P.2d 558 (1995) (trial court properly refused to instruct on crime of third degree rape where victim testified sex was forced and defendant testified it was consensual); <u>Ieremia</u>, 78 Wn. App. at 755-56 (defendants not entitled to third degree rape instruction when evidence supported either use of force or consensual sex).

A third degree rape instruction is not permitted when the jury would have to disbelieve both the defendant's testimony and the alleged victim's testimony in order to convict the defendant of rape in the third degree. <u>Wright</u>, 152 Wn. App. at 72 (citing <u>Charles</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 356). This is exactly what the jury was asked to do here.

A.B. testified that she was just waking up when Mr. Hampton had one finger inside of her. 9/6/12 RP 67. By the time she had a conscious thought or was able to articulate the words "no" or "stop,"

his fingers had already penetrated her vagina. 9/6/12 RP 70. The State did not introduce affirmative evidence that Mr. Hampton was guilty of only third degree rape. Mr. Hampton, in contrast, testified that the sexual assault never occurred. 9/7/12 RP 220. Therefore, in order to find Mr. Hampton guilty of third degree rape, the jury would have to disbelieve A.B.'s testimony and Mr. Hampton's testimony. Under these circumstances, a trial court is not permitted to give an instruction to the jury on rape in the third degree. <u>Wright</u>, 152 Wn. App. at 72-72; <u>Charles</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 356; <u>Ieremia</u>, 78 Wn. App. at 755-756.

Because the court erred in instructing the jury on third degree rape, Mr. Hampton's conviction must be reversed. Retrial is not appropriate because the jury found Mr. Hampton not guilty of second degree rape. CP 61; <u>see also Wright</u>, 152 Wn. App. at 74 (double jeopardy did not bar retrial only because jury was unable to reach a verdict on charge of second degree rape).

# 2. Mr. Hampton was unreasonably denied his constitutional right to his counsel of choice at trial.

a. <u>The Sixth Amendment guarantees criminal defendants the</u> right to be represented by the counsel of their choice if they can afford it.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." U.S. Const. amend. VI. An element of this right is the defendant's right to choose who will represent him. <u>United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. 140, 144, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006) (internal citations omitted). "[T]he Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to be represented by an otherwise qualified attorney whom that defendant can afford to hire, or who is willing to represent the defendant even though he is without funds." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Caplin &</u> <u>Drysdale, Chartered v. United States</u>, 491 U.S. 617, 624-25, 109 S.Ct. 2646, 105 L.Ed.2d 528 (1989)).

"Lawyers are not fungible, and often the most important decision a defendant makes in shaping his defense is his selection of an attorney." <u>United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 399 F.3d 924, 928 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005), <u>aff'd</u>, 548 U.S. 140 (2006). Thus, "defendants are free to employ counsel of their own choice and the courts are afforded little leeway in interfering with that choice." <u>Id</u>. at 928 (quoting <u>United</u> <u>States v. Lewis</u>, 759 F.2d 1316, 1326 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 474 U.S. 994 (1985)). The right to choice of counsel is derived from the right of the defendant to determine the defense to be utilized. <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 399 F.3d at 928 (quoting <u>United States v. Mendoza-Salgado</u>, 964 F.2d

993, 1014 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992)). Thus, the defendant must be given a reasonable opportunity to employ counsel of his own choice. A violation of the right to counsel of choice is a structural error not subject to a harmless error analysis. <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. at 150.

The right to counsel of choice is not without limits, however, as a defendant may not exercise the right in manner that obstructs the administration of justice. <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. at 144; <u>Wheat v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 163-64, 108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988); <u>Morris v. Slappy</u>, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed.2d 610 (1983). The trial court thus has some discretion in granting a continuance for purposes of substitution of counsel and must strike a balance between the defendant's right to be represented by counsel of his own choice and the court's interest in the "orderly administration of justice." <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 399 F.3d at 939 (quoting <u>Urquhart v. Lockhart</u>, 726 F.2d 1316, 1319 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1984)); <u>accord</u> State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 365, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

# b. <u>Mr. Hampton asked for a reasonable continuance so that he</u> could be represented by counsel of his choice.

Mr. Hampton was arraigned on a charge of indecent liberties on May 9, 2012.<sup>2</sup> CP 98; Supp CP \_\_ (Criminal Minute Entry, 5/9/12, sub no. 10). The court thereafter assigned counsel for Mr. Hampton. <u>See</u> 8/31/12 RP 3. In July, the parties agreed to continue the trial date.

Supp CP (Criminal Minute Entry, 7/13/12, sub no. 15).

Shortly before the trial call on August 31, 2012, Mr. Hampton hired private counsel, Anna Goykhman. 8/31/12 RP 3. Ms. Goykhman appeared in court and filed a motion to substitute and continue the trial date, explaining that she needed additional time to adequately prepare the case. 8/31/12 RP 2; CP 93. While the court initially agreed to allow the substitution of counsel, the motion to substitute was conditioned on the trial court's granting of the motion to continue, as Ms. Goykhman did not feel that she could effectively represent Mr. Hampton otherwise. 8/31/12 RP 2-3.

Both appointed counsel, Donald Wackerman, and retained counsel, Ms. Goykhman, explained to the court that Mr. Hampton was not satisfied with his relationship with Mr. Wackerman. Mr.

 $<sup>^2\,</sup>$  The State filed an amended information at the start of trial, charging Mr. Hampton with second degree rape. CP 83; 9/5/12 RP 35.

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