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

rape occurred. She was awakened when her pants were partially 

pulled off. She described her condition as just waking up when she 

felt the defendant put his finger inside her. She then clarified that 

she was awake when he spoke to her, but just waking up 

11 



immediately before that. She did not have any conscious thought 

about what was happening because she was just waking up. She 

said "no" and tried to push the defendant off of her when his finger 

was inside of her. She also called out for Chance, but the 

defendant did not immediately remove his finger from her vagina. 1 

RP67-71,117-118. 

There was no evidence that AB. did not have a meaningful 

understanding of the nature or consequences of sexual intercourse. 

The evidence did show that AB. was still somewhat groggy at the 

time that the rape occurred. Whether or not she was so groggy that 

she was incapable of consent was a factual issue for the jury to 

decide. Taking the evidence in a light most favorable to the State 

who proposed the lesser degree instruction, a rational trier of fact 

could conclude that there was a reasonable doubt as to whether 

she was so groggy that she was unable to communicate her lack of 

consent. The evidence did show that shortly after the defendant 

put his finger in her vagina, AB. did clearly communicate her lack 

of consent by saying "no", trying to push the defendant away, and 

calling out for the defendant's son . Thus the trial court did not err 

when it instructed the jury on the lesser degree offense of third 

degree rape. 

12 



The defendant argues that the instruction was improper; he 

compares the facts of this case to cases in which the victim testified 

to forced sexual intercourse and the defendant testified that no 

sexual intercourse occurred, or the sexual intercourse was 

consensual. BOA at 10-13. Those cases differ from the facts 

presented here because the evidence clearly established an either 

- or choice for the jury. 

In Wright the victim testified she was pulled into a bedroom 

where she was held down on a bed while she was sexually 

assaulted. She was not able to get off the bed until her assailants 

got off of her. State v. Wright, 152 Wn. App. 64, 67-68, 214 P.3d 

968 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1017 (2010). The 

defendant denied having sexual intercourse with the victim. Id. 

Under these facts the Court found it was error to give a third degree 

rape instruction where neither the victim nor the defendant's 

evidence supported an unforced nonconsensual rape. Id. at 72. 

In Charles the victim testified that the defendant forced her 

into some bushes whereupon he overcame her resistance, took off 

her clothing and had sexual intercourse with her before she was 

eventually able to run away. State v. Charles, 126 Wn.2d 353, 354, 

894 P.2d 558 (1995). The defendant testified that she consented to 

13 



sex with him in exchange for money. lQ at 355. The Court found a 

third degree rape instruction was properly refused because under 

these facts the defendant was either guilty of second degree rape 

or not guilty of the crime. Since there was no evidence that 

intercourse was unforced and nonconsensual the defendant was 

not entitled to that instruction. lQ. at 356. 

Unlike either Wright or Charles the jury could believe 

everything A.B. testified to, and still conclude there was a 

reasonable doubt about her capacity to consent to the sexual act. 

The evaluation of that evidence depended on how the jury viewed 

the degree of grogginess A.B. experienced at the time the 

defendant raped her. While it could have concluded that she was 

too groggy to be able to communicate her non-consent, it could just 

as easily conclude she was not that groggy, and she was capable 

of consenting or not consenting when the defendant raped her. 

Since the evidence did not present a clear cut either-or choice as 

the evidence in Wright and Charles did, the third degree rape 

instruction was properly given. 

Finally the defendant states that if the conviction for third 

degree rape is reversed, retrial is not the remedy because the jury 

explicitly found him not guilty of second degree rape. BOA at 13. 

14 



He relies on the Court's reasoning in Wright wherein the Court held 

retrial was appropriate because the jury had not acquitted the 

defendant of second degree rape and therefore double jeopardy 

had not attached. Wright, 152 Wn. App. at 74. 

The Court of Appeals decision in Wright is not on point here, 

because, while the jury explicitly acquitted the defendant of second 

degree rape, it also found the defendant guilty of third degree rape. 

In that situation, if the court erroneously instructed the jury on third 

degree rape, double jeopardy does not bar retrial on the third 

degree rape charge. State v. Wright, 165 Wn.2d 783, 203 P.3d 

1027 (2009). In that case the Court considered the remedy when 

the defendants had been charged with second degree murder 

under the alternative theories of intentional murder and felony 

murder predicated on second degree assault. After the Court's 

decisions in Andress4 and Hinton5 the convictions for second 

degree murder predicated on second degree assault were no 

longer valid. The Court reasoned that retrial on the intentional 

murder alternative was not barred by double jeopardy because the 

defendant had not been acquitted of that charge, and the reason for 

4 In re Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602,56 P.3d 981 (2002). 
5 In re Hinton, 152 Wn.2d 853, 100 P .3d 801 (2004). 
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reversing the conviction was not based on insufficiency of the 

evidence. lQ. at 792, 796. 

Here the challenge to the defendant's conviction for third 

degree rape is based on instructional error, not on the sufficiency of 

the evidence for that lesser degree crime. Under that 

circumstance, should this Court conclude the jury should not have 

been instructed on third degree rape, the remedy is to remand for 

retrial on third degree rape. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT DENIED THE MOTION TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL 
DATE. 

The defendant argues the trial court unreasonably denied 

him his right to counsel of his choice. Because the trial court did 

not err in balancing the interests of the parties, and the record 

reflected a tenable basis to deny the motion for a continuance that 

Ms. Goykman made as a pre-condition to substitute as counsel, the 

trial acted within its discretion when it denied the continuance 

motion. 

The defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to be 

represented by competent counsel. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 

U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 700 (1963), Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668,104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). 
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The defendant does not have an absolute Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel of his choice. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 674-76, 

816 P.2d 1 (1991). "[T]he essential aim of the Amendment is to 

guarantee an effective advocate for each criminal defendant rather 

to ensure that a defendant will inexorably be represented by the 

lawyer whom he prefers." Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 

159,108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988). 

The decision whether to grant a continuance in order for the 

defendant to obtain substitute counsel is reviewed for an abuse of 

discretion. State v. Roth, 75 Wn App. 808, 826, 881 P.2d 268 

(1994), review denied, 126 Wn.2d 1016 (1995). A trial court 

abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or 

based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. In re 

Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 13672 (1997). When the 

defendant argues that he had a conflict with his current counsel and 

his motion to continue in order to obtain substitute counsel was 

erroneously denied, the reviewing court will consider (1) the extent 

of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the 

timeliness of the motion. In re Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 723-724, 

16 P.3d 1 (2001). 
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An irreconcilable conflict justifying substitution of counsel 

occurred when the conflict between the defendant and counsel was 

so great that the defendant would not communicate with his 

attorney in any manner. Brown v. Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1169-

1170 (9th Cir. 1970). A similar conflict exists where counsel 

addressed his client by using racial epitaphs and threatened to 

render substandard performance if the client chose to go to trial 

rather than accept the plea offer. Frazer v. United States, 18 F.3d 

778 (9th Cir. 1994). In contrast friction between counsel the client 

that resulted from a dispute over trial strategy was not so severe as 

to result in a deprivation of counsel in Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 729-

730. 

Here the record demonstrates only that the defendant had a 

generalized dissatisfaction with his relationship with Mr. 

Wackerman. That dissatisfaction did not impair the ability of 

attorney or client to communicate with one another. Nor did it result 

in Mr. Wackerman abandoning his duty to prepare for trial. The 

record demonstrates that Mr. Wackerman had prepared for trial, 

and was continuing to prepare even on the trial date. To the extent 

there was any conflict with the defendant and Mr. Wackerman, it 

was certainly reconcilable. 
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A court does not make an adequate inquiry when it fails to 

hold a hearing on the reasons for the request to substitute counsel. 

State v. Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 755, 767, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995) 

disapproved on other grounds, State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 965 

P.2d 1072 (1998). Here the court permitted both Ms. Goykman and 

Mr. Wackerman to address the reasons for the substitution and 

request for continuance. The court conducted an adequate inquiry. 

Finally, the motion was untimely. When considering the 

timing of the motion to substitute counsel the court has analogized 

it to the right to self-representation. State v. Chase, 59 Wn. App. 

501, 506, 799 P.2d 272 (1990). "If the request is made shortly 

before or as the trial is to begin, the existence of the right depends 

on the facts with a measure of discretion in the trial court. In the 

absence of substantial reasons a late request should generally be 

denied, especially if the grant of such a request may result in delay 

of the trial." Id. quoting, State v. Garcia, 92 Wn.2d 647, 655-56, 

600 P.2d 1010 (1979). 

Here the motion was made on the date the case was set for 

trial. The defendant's generalized dissatisfaction with appointed 

counsel was not a substantial reason to grant a continuance to 

permit a new attorney to prepare to represent him. The Court has 
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recognized that the victim's interests play some role in the decision 

to continue a case in order to accommodate a request for substitute 

counsel. Morris v. Siappy, 461 U.S. 1, 14-15, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 

L.Ed.2d 610 (1983). The State's interest in maintaining the integrity 

of its evidence also bears on that question. State v. Early, 70 Wn. 

App. 452, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1004 

(1994). Thus where the a State's witnesses' cooperation was 

tenuous, and the defendant's current counsel was prepared and 

ready to try the case, the Court found the trial court did not abuse 

its discretion when it denied a request to continue the trial so that 

the defendant could retain new counsel. Id. 

Here there was evidence that the complaining witness was 

being pressured to not cooperate with the prosecution, thereby 

jeopardizing the State's case. Mr. Wackerman was prepared to try 

the case and the witnesses were available for trial. Weighing the 

defendant's and the State's competing interests, the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion when it denied the defendant's late request 

for a continuance to permit Ms. Goykman to substitute in as his 

attorney. 

The defendant asserts that the trial court used the wrong test 

when assessing whether sufficient grounds had been asserted to 
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justify the continuance to substitute counsel. BOA at 19-20. He 

claims it was error for the court to consider the victim's position in 

the case, instead of focusing on his right to counsel of choice. This 

argument should fail because courts have recognized that these 

factors may appropriately be considered when deciding a motion to 

continue the trial to secure new counsel. Siappy 461 U.S. at 14, 

Early, 70 Wn. App. at 458. 

The defendant relies on a four part test set out in Price as a 

framework which he argues demonstrates that the trial court 

abused its discretion. State v. Price, 126 Wn. App. 617, 632, 109 

P.3d 27, review denied, 155 Wn.2d 1018 (2005). Price relied on 

State v. Roth 75 Wn. App. 808, 824, 881 P.2d 268 (1994), review 

denied, 126 Wn.2d 1016 (1994). Roth predated Stenson, wherein 

the Supreme Court adopted the test articulated by the federal court 

in United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158, n. 3 (9th Cir. 1998). 

Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724 (permitting the defendant to raise the 

issue in a personal restraint petition that had previously been 

litigated on direct review because the change in the law was good 

cause under RAP 16.4(d) to revisit the issue). As shown, using the 

test adopted by the Supreme Court in Stenson, the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion. However, even under the test set out in 
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Price the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the 

motion to continue. 

The first Price factor is whether the trial court had granted 

previous continuances at the defendant's request. Price 126 Wn. 

App. at 632. The defendant points out that there had only been 

one prior continuance, and that he did not request a continuance 

when the State amended the information on the day of trial. As the 

court noted however the case had been set beyond its original time 

for trial calculation. 8-31-12 RP 8. The defense did not request a 

continuance when the Information was amended because the 

defense had been put on notice for over two months that the 

Information would be amended to a specific charge under a specific 

theory. The defense specifically waived arraignment on that new 

charge until the trial date. 3 CP 102-103. 

The second Price factor is whether the defendant had some 

legitimate dissatisfaction with counsel. Price, 126 Wn. App. at 632. 

General complaints that the defendant was unable to communicate 

with counsel, and that counsel was not effectively representing the 

defendant, along with specific complaints about counsel's conduct 

in representing the defendant, were not a sufficient reason to 

demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the trial court when it denied 
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a motion to continue to obtain new counsel in Price. lQ. at 633-34. 

Similarly here, the defendant's general complaint about his 

"relationship" with Mr. Wackerman is insufficient to show that he 

had a legitimate dissatisfaction with counsel sufficient to warrant a 

continuance to obtain Ms. Goykman's services. 

The third Price factor is whether available counsel is 

prepared to go to trial. Price, 126 Wn. App. at 632. Ms. Goykman 

was not prepared to go to trial. The defendant faults the trial court 

for not asking Ms. Goykman how much time would be needed to 

prepare for trial. Since there were other factors bearing on whether 

to grant a continuance at all, the length of a requested continuance 

was not the determining factor in this inquiry. 

Even if the defendant had requested a short continuance 

that would not be a basis to find the trial court abused its discretion. 

In Early the defendant came to court on the day of trial and asked 

for a 30 day continuance to allow new counsel to prepare. Early, 

70 Wn. App. at 456. The Court found no abuse of discretion in 

denying the short continuance since the request was made late, 

appointed counsel was ready to try the case, and a continuance 

could prejudice the State's case. lQ. at 458. These factors were all 

present in this case. 
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The defendant does not discuss the fourth Price factor, 

"whether the denial of the motion is likely to result in identifiable 

prejudice to the defendant's case of a material or substantial 

nature." Price, 126 Wn. App. at 632. Instead he argues a violation 

of right to counsel of choice is a structural error that is not subject to 

harmless error analysis, citing United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 

548 U.S. 140, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006). BOA at 15, 

24. This misstates the court's holding in that case. The court held 

that it is an erroneous denial of right to counsel that constitutes a 

structural error not subject to harmless error analysis. Id. at 150-

152. 

In Gonzalez-Lopez the Government conceded that the trial 

court erroneously denied the defendant his right to counsel of 

choice. The only issue was whether the error was subject to 

harmless error analysis. The Court was careful to state that its 

decision there did nothing to disturb its prior rulings that limit the 

right to counsel of choice. Id. at 151. Relevant to this case the 

court reaffirmed that the trial court had "wide latitude in balancing 

the right to counsel of choice against the needs of fairness and

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